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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200408624
AWCB Decision No. 10-0002
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on January 7, 2010


The Employee’s worker’s compensation claim was heard on September 15, and September 18, 2009, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Joseph Kalamarides, Kalamarides & Lambert, represented the employee.  Attorney Daniel Cadra, Assistant Attorney General, represented the Self-Insured Employer.  The record closed on November 18, 2009, when the Board met to deliberate following receipt of written closing arguments from the parties on November 5, 2009.  At hearing witnesses included Employee, Franklin Wong, M.D., Patrick Golden, M.D., and James Colmenero.  Ali Najafi, M.D., following the hearing, testified by deposition.  


ISSUES

Employee contends her work injury was a substantial factor in the need for the surgeries performed by Dr. Najafi.  Employer denies the surgeries performed by Dr. Najafi were reasonable and necessary as a result of the work injury and relies on the reports of its Employer’s Medical Evaluations (EME) and the Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME). 

1. Were the neck surgeries performed by Dr. Najafi caused by or necessitated by the work injury?

Employee contends she is permanently and totally disabled (PTD) as a result of her 2004 work injury.  She asserts she is in so much pain and has such limited range of motion it is impossible for her to do activities of daily living let alone work.  Employer asserts Employee has completed a vocational retraining program for work as a receptionist and has the physical capacities to perform this work.  Several doctors have released Employee to sedentary work.

2. Is Employee permanently and totally disabled as a result of the 2004 work injury?

Employee contends, if she is not permanently and totally disabled, she is entitled to temporary total disability (TTD) benefits from April 7, 2007, and ongoing, since her treating doctor says she is still disabled.  Employer contends Employee was medically stable by August 2, 2005, according to the SIME physician.  

3. Is Employee entitled to TTD from April 7, 2007, and ongoing?

Employee contends she is entitled to the 25% PPI rating from the SIME physician with which rating one of the EME physicians has agreed.  Employer contends it has paid the 15% rating by the EME physicians and, even if Employee were entitled to the higher PPI rating, Employer has paid this increased rating through payment of AS 23.30.041(k) stipend benefits. 

4. Is Employee entitled to a 25% PPI rating?


FINDINGS OF FACT

1. On May 10, 2004, while working as a Certified Nursing Aide (CNA) Employee sustained a shoulder and cervical injury when she pulled a patient back into his wheelchair (Employee hearing testimony).

2. On May 17, 2004, Employee saw Timothy D. Coalwell, M.D., with complaints of neck and shoulder pain, including a popping in her shoulder.  His diagnosis was neck and left shoulder strain with pre-existent degenerative disk disease of the cervical spine.  He arranged for an MRI
 of the cervical spine and left shoulder (May 17, 2009 Coalwell Complete Physical Examination).

3. On May 17, 2004, the x-ray of the cervical spine showed marked disc space narrowing at C3 and C5 with some neural encroachment.  The impression was severe degenerative disc disease at C3 and C5.  There was also intense sclerosis in the vertebral endplates, C3-4 and C5-6.  The x-ray of the left shoulder showed abnormalities of the AC joint and coracoclavicular junction (May 17, 2004 Medical Park Family Care x-ray report).

4. On May 20, 2004, Employee had an MRI which showed a small- to moderate-sized protrusion to the left at C6-7 and a moderate-sized protrusion slightly to the left of midline at C5-6, causing some mild left foraminal stenosis (May 20, 2004 Healthsouth MRI report).

5.  On June 1, 2004, Dr. Coalwell referred Employee to Larry Kroop, M.D., Interventional Pain Consultants of Alaska, for pain management and possible steroid injection to the AC joint (June 1, 2004 Coalwell Chart Note). 

6. On June 3, 2004, Dr. Kroop performed a cervical selective nerve root block C6 for the cervical nerve root compression with radiculopathy (June 3, 2004 Kroop Operative Report).

7. On June 24, 2004, at the request of Dr. Kroop, Eric M. Kussro, D.O., performed sensory and motor nerve conduction studies and needle EMG
 in the left upper extremity.  He found no focal compressive median or ulnar neuropathy affecting the left upper extremity and no evidence of active cervical radiculopathy (June 24, 2004 Kussro Evaluation Report).

8. On July 7, 2004 Dr. Coalwell diagnosed neck pain with radiculopathy secondary to degenerative disk disease of the cervical spine and referred Employee to Louis L. Kralick, M.D. (July 7, 004 Coalwell Chart Note).

9. On July 15, 2004, Dr. Kralick evaluated Employee and recommended a two-level disc excision and instrumented anterior fusion (July 15, 2004 Kralick Outpatient Consultation report).

10. On July 22, 2004, Dr. Kralick performed an anterior diskectomy and osteophyte removal with canal and nerve decompression C5-C6 and C6-C7.  His post-operative diagnosis was cervical spondylosis with root compression and radiculopathy at C5-C6 and C6-C7 (July 22, 2004 Kralick Operative Report).

11. On September 7, 2004, Dr. Kralick saw Employee in follow-up and reported her incision was well-healed.  She had some limitation in her range of motion by stiffness out of the collar, but she had no tenderness to palpation and no obvious sensory deficit.  The C-spine lateral x-ray showed a stable appearance of the instrumentation and allograft construct.  Employee was instructed to increase her activity level and to wean to a soft collar (September 7, 2004 Kralick Follow-up Evaluation).

12. The September 7, 2004 x-ray showed moderate degenerative disk changes at C3-C4 with narrowing of the disk space, with sclerosis along the disc margin and hypertophic spurring (September 7, 2004 x-ray report).

13. On November 2, 2004, Dr. Kralick saw Employee in follow-up and noted she was comfortable on examination with improved range of motion, stable strength, and tone that was subdued but with present tendon responses.  The C-spine x-ray showed a stable appearance at the operative level (November 11, 2004 Kralick Follow-up Evaluation).

14. The cervical spine x-ray on November 2, 2004, showed bone grafts in stable position with less distinct margins indicating beginning fusion.  Anterior hardware was stable and bone alignment was also stable.  Moderate degenerative disk changes were noted at C3-C4, but were stable (November 2, 2004 Spine x-ray report).

15. On November 10, 2004, Dr. Coalwell saw Employee and noted her neck was still stiff and she was still wearing a brace (November 10, 2004 Coalwell Chart Note).

16. On November 24, 2004, Dr. Coalwell noted Employee was reporting ongoing pain including migraines which she felt were caused by neck pain.  She reported numbness and tingling in both legs and he opined an MRI might be needed if the tingling persisted (November 24, 2004 Coalwell Chart Note). 

17. On January 4, 2005, Employee saw Dr. Kralick who stated she was making satisfactory progress and was benefiting from physical therapy.  She had improved range of motion and no focal sensory deficit.  Strength was normal and tendon responses, although subdued, were present and symmetric (January 4, 2005 Kralick Follow-up Evaluation).

18. On February 24, 2005, Dr. Coalwell saw Employee who was complaining of continuing pain and migraines which she said she did not have prior to the work injury.  A new MRI did not show any acute changes.  Dr. Coalwell prescribed Wellbutrin (February 24, 2005 Coalwell Chart Note).

19. On April 11, 2005, Shannan F. Schewe, Occupational Therapist, wrote to Dr. Coalwell stating Employee’s progress had been impeded by “multiple medical and psychosocial stressors” and she attended only 43 out of 64 appointments.  Employee was released by Ms. Schewe to a home exercise program with no further therapy indicated (April 11, 2005 Schewe letter).

20. On April 19, 2005, Dr. Kralick saw Employee with continued but slow progress with residual head and neck ache and nonspecific sensory symptoms.  She had no evidence of long-track sign abnormalities on exam and he recommended a follow-up visit in one year (April 19, 2005 Kralick Follow-up Evaluation). 

21. On May 19, 2005, Dr. Coalwell saw employee who reported pain in her neck and back radiating down her right arm with numbness in her fingers bilaterally.  She also had numbness in her legs (May 19, 2005 Coalwell Chart Note).

22. On June 27, 2005, Employee saw Dr. Coalwell who ordered a urine drug screen and noted a follow-up appointment with Dr. Kralick on referral from Dr. Kroop who did not want to do any more injections until Employee had been seen by the surgeon.  Dr. Coalwell noted Employee was getting greater than 100 mg of Oxycontin per day with only fair relief (June 27, 2005 Coalwell Chart Note).

23. On June 27, 2005, Employee also saw Dr. Kroop who noted she was scheduled for an MRI by Dr. Kralick’s office.  He noted the massage therapy did not seem to be helping and her hydrocodone prescription might need “tweaking” (June 27, 2005 Kroop Chart Note).

24. On July 6, 2005, the Urinalysis report showed no evidence of Oxycontin but was positive for Cocaine and marijuana (July 6, 2005 Quest Diagnostics Report).

25. On July 8, 2005, Dr. Coalwell’s office wrote Employee dismissing her from care immediately (July 8, 2005 Medical Park Family Care letter).

26. On July 12, 2005, Dr. Coalwell filled out a request from the Rehabilitation Specialist stating Employee could participate in reemployment plan development but adding that he no longer treated the Employee “secondary to not finding expected med in lab work and finding unexpected chemicals in blood work” (July 12, 2005 Corvel letter).

27. On July 21, 2005, Employee had an MRI of the Cervical Spine which showed surgical changes with disk disease at C3-C4 causing minimal central canal stenosis and mild to moderate neural foraminal stenosis, right greater than left (July 21, 2005 MRI report).

28. On July 26, 2005, Employee appeared at Providence Hospital Emergency Room seeking additional pain medication and denying use of street drugs.  Employee “eloped from the department prior” to the ER doctor speaking to Dr. Coalwell or the Pain Clinic (July 26, 2005 PAMC Emergency Room Note).

29. On August 2, 2005, Employee saw Dr. Kralick who reviewed the MRI with her and ruled out further surgical intervention.  Dr. Kralick discussed appropriate conservative management options with Employee for her residual cervical and lumbar symptoms.  The MRI showed minimal degenerative changes at C3-4 without any significant canal stenosis and only minimal foraminal narrowing (August 2, 2005 Kralick Follow-up Evaluation).

30. On September 15, 2005, Employee was seen by William Garnica, M.D., in Fresno, California.  His diagnoses were radiculitis, migraine, and neck pain.  He referred her to a neurosurgeon (September 15, 2005 Doctor’s First Report of Occupational Injury or Illness). 

31. On October 11, 2005, Dr. Garnica completed a reemployment form for the Reemployment Benefits Administrator stating Employee could return to work as Dispatcher, Motor Vehicle (October 11, 2005 Reemployment letter).

32. On October 21, 2005, Employee saw Ali Najafi, M.D., on referral from Dr. Garnica.  He had x-rays and MRIs of the cervical spine performed which showed adequate interbody fusion at C5-C6 and C6-C7 with minimal-to-no nerve root compression.  At C4-C5 there was no nerve root compression and adequate disk height.  There was significant disk space narrowing with end plate changes and foraminal narrowing at C3-C4.  His impression was cervicalgia, cervical radiculopathy, and degenerative disk disease at C3-C4.  He recommended an anterior cervical disk decompression at C3-C4 for decompression of nerve roots and fusion and stabilization (October 21, 2005 Najafi Initial Evaluation). 

33. On November 3, 2005, Dr. Garnica completed a form for the Reemployment Benefits Administrator approving the jobs of Dispatcher, Motor Vehicle and Answering Service Operator for Employee but disproving the jobs of Collection Clerk and Data Entry Clerk (November 2, 2005 letter). 

34. On November 21, 2005, Dr. Najafi performed an anterior cervical diskectomy at C3-4 for decompression of nerve roots, anterior cervical arthrodesis at C3-4, anterior cervical plating at C3-4, interbody device placement at C3-4 and bone graft (November 21, 2005 Najafi Operative report).

35. On December 2, 2005, Dr. Najafi saw Employee in follow-up complaining of bilateral numbness in hands to fingertips.  She was to wean off wearing the soft collar and was given a Medrol Dosepak along with Neurotin (December 12, 2005 Najafi Chart Note). 

36. On December 28, 2005, Employee had another MRI of her cervical spine and the radiologist noted he had no prior MRIs available for comparison.  The MRI showed postoperative corpectomies at different levels with near anatomic alignment.  Minimal disc osteophyte noted at the level of lateral recess at C3-4 and C5-6 with minimal encroachment on the respective neural foramina on the left side with no evidence of spinal stenosis (December 28, 2005 MRI report).

37. On January 17, 2006, Dr. Najafi saw Employee for complaints of increasing neck pain.  He found her in acute distress with limited range of motion.  He planned to treat her with an increase in medication, but with an ultimate plan to decompress the nerve root at C4-5 with stabilization and removal of previous cervical plates and fusion from C3-C4 to C7 (January 17, 2006 Najafi letter).

38. On March 3, 2006, Dr. Najafi saw Employee in follow-up with a worsening of symptoms.  The disk at C4-C5 showed significant degeneration.  He suggested surgery for removal of plates, extension of fusion from C3 through C7 by performance of a diskectomy at C4-C5 with fusion and instrumentation.  Employee presently had hoarseness which would increase with surgery.  Employee indicated she wished to proceed with surgery (March 3, 2006 Najafi letter).

39. On March 6, 2006, Dr. Najafi performed anterior surgical removal of plate at C3-C4 and at C5-C7, Diskectomy at C4-C5 from decompression of nerve roots, interbody device placement for C4-C5 fusion and placement of anterior cervical  plates C3 through C5 (3/6/2006 Operative report).

40. On March 7, 2006, Employee was non-compliant with nursing staff by failing to wear her soft collar, bending over to pick up things from the floor, and leaving the ward without permission to go smoke with her husband (March 6, 2006 St. Agnes Professional Progress Record).

41. On April 11, 2006, Employee saw Dr. Najafi and Employee was making the expected recovery (April 11, 2006 Najafi letter).

42. On June 21, 2006, Employee saw William von Kaenel, M.D., for pain complaints.  Employee demonstrated “decided surfeit of nonspecific somatic symptoms, as well as pain behaviors.” He planned to perform facet joint steroid injection on the left at C3-C4, C4-C5, C5-C6 and C6-C7 to determine the extent to which Employee obtained pain relief (June 21, 2006 von Kaenel report).

43. On June 21, 2006, Dr. von Kaenel performed facet joint injections on June 20, 2006, and Employee had immediate relief.  However, the following day she reported no subsequent pain relief.  He suggested medial branch blocks be considered for diagnostic purposes (June 21, 2006 von Kaenel report).

44. On August 30, 2006, Dr. von Kaenel saw Employee for an increase in numbness in her hands bilaterally along with hot and cold chills.  He was still considering medial branch blocks (August 8, 2006 von Kaenel report).

45. Dr. von Kaenel saw Employee again on October 10, 2006, for increased pain despite having a fentanyl patch and hydrocodone.  He found cervical and axial pain. He again recommended medial branch blocks of the posterior primary ramus on the left side at C3, C4, C5, C6 as well as the third occipital nerve (October 10, 2006 von Kaenel report).

46. On October 13, 2006, Dr. Kaenel intended to perform the medical brand blocks; however, Employee was uncooperative with thrashing of her head, moving in flexion, extension, and rotation.  “Given the proximity of vital neurological structures such as the spinal cord, I judged it to be unsafe to perform the procedure … Thus, I abandoned the procedure.”  Employee was unaware the block had not been performed and reported no pain relief (October 13, 2006 operative report). 

47. On October 31, 2006, Dr. von Kaenel reported the fact Employee had no pain relief from the attempted block ruled out the placebo effect.  His impression was cervical and axial pain for which no further interventions would be helpful (October 31, 2006 von Kaenel report).

48. Dr. Najafi saw Employee on November 17, 2006, in follow-up to the surgery.  Following surgery Employee was doing well but now she had constant neck pain.  He opined the disk space at C4-C5 had collapsed and foraminal narrowing had developed.  He recommended increase use of medications but suggested the best plan would be decompression of the nerve root at this level with fusion and stabilization and removal of cervical plate and incorporating the fusion from C3-C4 to C7 (November 17, 2006 Najafi letter).

49. On February 2, 2007, Employee saw Dr. von Kaenel for cervical and axial pain.  She remained at maximum benefit from the medical procedure and he was reluctant to proceed with any further procedures, given the patient cooperation issues from the medial block procedure (February 20, 2007 von Kaenel letter).

50. On March 8, 2007, Employee had a new cervical MRI performed.  The impression was no high-grade central canal or neural foraminal stenosis, status post fusion C3-7, and C4-5 minimal retrolisthesis of approximately 1-2mm (March 8, 2007 MRI report).

51. On April 4, 2007, Employee underwent an MRI of the lumbar spine which showed broad-based disc herniation and osteophytes with prominent narrowing of the neural foramina bilaterally at L5-S1, mild broad-based bulge at L4-5, mild bulging disc at L3-4, no frank central spinal stenosis, minimal fluid intensity within L5-S1 space, degenerative in nature, and fluid intensity in the right liver which needed to be further evaluated (April 4, 2007 MRI report).

52. On April 13, 2007, Franklin C. Wong, M.D., Physical Medicine Rehabilitation, and Patrick F. Golden, M.D., Neurosurgeon, examined Employee for an Employer’s Medical Evaluation (EME).  The diagnoses were C6-C7 disc herniation with radiculopathy due to the work injury of May 10, 2004, pre-existing cervical spondylosis, lumbar spondylosis unrelated to work injury, and functional overlay with significant psychosomatic disorder.  Employee’s current complaints were not supported by objective findings.  The C5-C6 diskectomy and interbody fusion with fixation incorporated into the C6-C7 procedure by Dr. Kralick was work related because it was a necessary component due to the severely degenerated level next to the pathologic level of C6-C7.  They further opined Employee’s current medical treatment was reasonable and necessary for her degenerative spine condition but was not necessitated by the work injury.  They recommended no additional treatment for the work injury.  Employee was medically stable from the work injury as of July 1, 2005 when she was discharged from treatment for testing positive for cocaine and THC.  Using the AMA Guidelines to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th Edition, they found she meet the criteria for DRE Cervical Category III.  The doctors also felt she could perform sedentary work (April 13, 2007 EME Report).

53. Dr. Najafi saw Employee on April 20, 2007, for her constant pain complaints located in her suboccipital region with extension to upper and lower neck.  She also had complaints of mid to low back pain with radiation into her buttocks, thigh and calf.  The recent MRI showed facet hypertrophy of the upper cervical spine at C2-C3.  He planned to continue her on anti-inflammatories and referred her to pain management for facet injections at C2-C3 and C4-C5 (April 20, 2007 Najafi letter).

54. Drs. Wong and Golden issued an Addendum to the EME report on June 12, 2007, establishing the PPI rating at 15% whole person (June 12, 2007 Addendum to Independent Medical Evaluation).

55. On May 14, 2008, Bruce M. McCormack, M.D., performed a Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME).  He opined the surgery performed by Dr. Kralick on July 22, 2004, was reasonable and necessary as a result of the work injury.  Employee was medically stable on August 2, 2005, when she was last evaluated by Dr. Kralick who stated no further surgery was needed. However, the surgeries by Dr. Najafi in 2005 and 2006, while reasonable and necessary, were not related to and did not arise out of the 2004 work injury.  Dr. Najafi performed surgery for pre-existing degenerative changes evidenced in the first imaging studies and described in the first operative report.  Employee had a 25% PPI from the 2004 work injury.  Employee’s low back condition was unrelated to the 2004 work injury.  Employee remained medically stable from the work injury with no need for palliative care.  She was able to perform sedentary work with no lifting over 15 pounds, no overhead work, and no repetitive neck movements (May 14, 2008 SIME report).

56. Dr. McCormack is a credible witness based on his credentials, the thoroughness of his report, his review of Employee’s entire medical record, and his presence on the Board’s list of SIME physicians.

57. Dr. Wong testified at hearing consistent with the EME report.  The initial cervical fusion performed by Dr. Kralick was reasonable and necessary as a result of the 2004 work injury, because there was correlation between her neck and arm pain and the MRI findings.  However, the fusion at C5-C7 performed by Dr. Kralick did not cause or necessitate the two subsequent surgeries performed by Dr. Najafi and, therefore, were not the result of the work injury.  The second and third surgeries performed by Dr. Najafi were not based on objective findings as her examination was normal, but rather on Employee’s subjective pain complaints.  Moreover, the Employee’s objective findings during the EME physical examination did not comport with Employee’s subjective complaints.  Dr. Wong noted Employee demonstrated greater physical capacities when distracted than when being examined and measured.  Dr. Wong reiterated Employee was medically stable as of July 1, 2005 with a 15% PPI rating.  Employee also has the physical capacity to work as a receptionist (Wong). 

58. Dr. Wong is a credible witness based on his medical training, his examination of Employee, his review of employee’s entire medical file, his board certification in physical medicine and rehabilitation, his work as a physician in the State of Oregon, and his expertise doing arbiter examinations and closing medical examinations for the State of Oregon.

59. Dr. Golden testified at hearing consistent with the EME report.  He opined the surgery on November 21, 2005, at C3 and C4 was not related to the work injury nor necessitated by the surgery at C5-C7 by Dr. Kralick.  The C3/4 level was already degenerative when Dr. Kralick operated at C5-C7 and the MRI upon which Dr. Najafi relied showed a solid fusion at C5-7.  The lumbar condition was likewise unrelated to the work injury because there is no definitive medical literature which correlates a cervical condition with a later developing lumbar degeneration.  To a reasonable degree of medical probability, the work injury did not cause Employee’s lumbar complaints.  Dr. Golden also agreed with the SIME 25% PPI rating.  He agreed Employee has the physical capacities to perform work as a receptionist (Golden). 

60. Dr. Golden is a credible witness based on his examination of Employee, his review of her entire medical file, his training, credentials, and observations of Employee.

61. Dr. Najafi testified by deposition on October 7, 2009.  He related the two surgeries in 2005 and 2006 to the work injury in 2004 and opined Employee was permanently disabled from the work injury although medically stable.  He had insufficient evidence to link Employee’s lumbar condition to the work injury.  While he thought he had a complete medical record for Employee, he agreed he did not have the complete file at the time of the deposition.  He also agreed he did not follow-up with Dr. Garnica, the referring physician, with Dr. Kralick, the prior surgeon, nor with Dr. Coalwell, Employee’s previous treating doctor.  He initially treated Employee for headaches and neck pain associated with degeneration at C3-C4, and agreed the fusion (performed by Dr. Kralick) at C5-C7 was solid.  When he examined Employee on October 25, 2005, the musculoskeletal, strength, ambulation, and neurological examinations were all normal.  She had limited range of motion in her cervical spine.  He based his recommendation for surgery on Employee’s subjective complaints of neck pain.  He was not presently prescribing any pain medication for Employee, and opined Employee did not need additional medical treatment, other than ongoing pain medication.  However, he thought she might require additional surgery sometime in the distant future (Najafi deposition).

62. Dr. Najafi, Employee’s treating physician, is less credible than the SIME physician and the EME physicians based on his more limited experience and practice and his lack of familiarity with Employee’s prior history and medical records.  He did not provide the radiologist with prior MRIs for comparison when ordering additional MRIs.  He based his treatment of Employee on her subjective complaints rather than on any objective findings.

63. Employee is not credible.  In particular, Employee denies being physically able to do anything either around the house or in a job.  However, Employee participated in two days of hearings by telephone, holding the telephone the entire time, as she denied using a speaker phone.  Employee and her son gave different versions regarding repairs to the apartment where they were living and as to who was paying the rent and other bills.  Employee’s medical records document repeated failure to cooperate with exercise, continuation of smoking, explicit refusal to follow directions in the hospital, and inconsistent testimony regarding use and effectiveness of marijuana.

64. Employee was paid temporary total disability benefits (TTD) from May 18, 2004 through 
April 5, 2007.  She was paid PPI biweekly, based on a 15% PPI rating, from April 6, 2007 through July 15, 2008.  She has been paid AS 23.30.041(k) stipend benefits since July 16, 2008
(July 22, 2008 Compensation Report).
PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.120 Presumptions.
(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter;

(2) sufficient notice of the claim has been given;

The Alaska Supreme Court held “the text of AS 23.30.120(a) (1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.”  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996) (emphasis in original).  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption all the benefits she seeks are compensable.  Id.  The Alaska Supreme Court has also held the presumption applies to claims for medical benefits as these benefits come within the meaning of compensation in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.   Moretz.v. O’Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764, 766 (Alaska 1989); Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669 (Alaska 1991). 

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the disability and her employment.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some minimal” relevant evidence (Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)) establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability and employment (Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316) or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability (Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991).
“Before the presumption attaches, some preliminary link must be established between the disability and the employment….”  Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316.  “The purpose of the preliminary link requirement is to ‘rule out cases in which [the] claimant can show neither that the injury occurred in the course of employment nor that it arose out of [it].’”  Cheeks, 742 P.2d at 244.  In making the preliminary link determination, the Board “may not concern itself with the witnesses’ credibility.”  Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413,417 (Alaska 2004.

Once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury is not work related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1991).  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 


(1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 



(2)  directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.  

Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).

“Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.  “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”  Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051, 1054 (Alaska 1994) citing Big K. Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941 (Alaska 1992).  If medical experts rule out work-related causes for the injury, then an alternative explanation is not required.  Norcon, 880 P.2d at 1054, citing Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).  The Board must look at the employer’s evidence in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the employee.  Id. at 1055.  Therefore, the Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles her to compensation benefits.  Id. at 1054.  

If the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Koons, 816 P.2d at 1381, citing Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must “induce a belief” in the mind of the board that the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).

AS 23.30.185.  Compensation for temporary total disability.
In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.395.  Definitions.

(16) “disability” means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment….

 (27) “medical stability” means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence;

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.

(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance of treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee.  However, if the condition requiring treatment, apparatus, or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee's disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement.  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require.  When medical care is required, the injured employee may designate a licensed physician to provide all medical and related benefits.

Under the Act, an injured worker is entitled to medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee.”  AS 23.30.095(a).  “If continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.”  Id..  The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) applies to claims for medical benefits, including continuing care.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-665 (Alaska 1991).  In complex medical cases, medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link between the work injury and the ongoing disabilities.  Delaney v. Alaska Airlines, 693 P.2d 859, 962 (Alaska 1985). 

An employee is entitled to reasonable and necessary medical treatment within the first two years of the date of injury.  “A claim for medical treatment is to be reviewed according to the date the treatment was sought and the claim was filed with the Board.”  Phillip Weidner & Associates, Inc., v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 731-732 (Alaska 1999).  The court further stated an employee “may choose to follow his or her own doctor’s advice, so long as the choice of treatment is reasonable.”  Id.  “

Where the claimant presents credible, competent evidence from his or her treating physician that the treatment undergone or sought is reasonably effective for the process of recovery, and the evidence is corroborated by other medical experts, and the treatment falls within the realm of medically acceptable options, it is generally considered reasonable.  If the employee makes this showing, the employer is faced with a heavy burden—the employer must demonstrate to the board that the treatment is neither reasonable and necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical options under the particular facts.  It is not the board’s function to choose between reasonable, yet competing, medically acceptable treatments.  Rather the board must determine whether the actual treatment sought by the injured employee is reasonable.  Id. at 732. 

AS 23.30.180.  Permanent total disability.

(a) In case of total disability adjudged to be permanent 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the total disability….

“Total disability” does not necessarily mean a state of abject helplessness.  It means the inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for then does not exist.  J.B. Warrnack v. Roan, 418 P.2d 986 (Alaska 1966).  An employee is not permanently disabled unless a doctor states that the condition will not improve during the claimant’s lifetime.  Alaska International Constructors v. Kinter, 755 P.2d 1103 (Alaska 1988).  Further, an employee is not entitled to permanent total disability “if there is regularly and continuously available work in the area suited to the claimant’s capabilities.”  Summerville v. Denali Center, 811 P.2d 1047, 1051 (Alaska 1991).  

AS 23.30.190.  Compensation for permanent partial impairment; rating guides.

(a) In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee’s percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person. . . .

ANALYSIS

Were the cervical surgeries performed by Dr. Najafi caused by or necessitated by the work injury?

The law requires analysis of the evidence presented to determine if Employee raised the presumption of compensability and, if so, whether Employer rebutted the presumption by substantial evidence.  Employee has raised the presumption her two surgeries by Dr. Najafi in 2005 and 2006 were related to her 2004 work injury.  Employee testified the pain never went away following the surgery by Dr. Kralick and she developed headaches from the neck pain which she had not had before the work injury.  Her testimony is supported by her treating physician in California Dr. Najafi who related both surgeries to ongoing deterioration set in motion by the work injury and the fusion surgery by Dr. Kralick.  This evidence raises the presumption that Employee’s ongoing medical treatment is the result of the 2004 work injury.

Employer has provided substantial evidence to rebut the presumption through the EIME report and the testimony of Drs. Wong and Golden.  These physicians testified Employee’s original surgery with Dr. Kralick was work related but the two subsequent surgeries by Dr. Najafi were not work related but due to pre-existing degenerative disc disease at C3-C4 evident on the May 17, 2004 x-ray which showed intense sclerosis in the vertebral endplates, C3-4 and C5-6.  Since the doctors ruled out work as a factor for the 2005 and 2006 surgeries and identified an alternative cause, Employer has rebutted the presumption. 

Once Employer has rebutted the presumption of compensability, the burden of persuasion shifts back to Employee and she must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  The preponderance of the evidence is that the surgeries by Dr. Najafi were not related to nor caused by the work injury.  Dr. Najafi on October 25, 2005, found Employee’s neurological, musculoskeletal, ambulatory, and strength testing all normal.  The MRI showed the C5-7 fusion to be solid.  Dr. Najafi stated the primary motivation for surgery was Employee’s subjective ongoing pain complaints.  The EME physicians (Drs. Wong and Golden) in their report and in testimony specifically ruled out work as a factor in the need for the surgeries by Dr. Najafi.  The doctors noted that the objective evidence sufficient to support surgery was missing from Dr. Najafi’s reports.  The EME physicians asserted the surgeries were done at C3-4 which had showed degeneration prior to the C5-7 surgery and, therefore, Dr. Najafi’s first surgery was for pre-existing degeneration and not as a result of the C5-7 surgery.  Employee’s medical treatment in 2007 was reasonable and necessary for Employee’s pre-existing degenerative disc disease but it was not related to the work injury.  

Dr. McCormack, the SIME physician, corroborated the testimony of the EME physicians.  He stated Dr. Najafi did surgery based not on the work injury but for pre-existing degenerative changes shown on the first imaging studies and described in the first operative report.  He agreed the surgeries by Dr. Najafi were reasonable and necessary for the pre-existing degenerative disease but were not related to the work injury or the surgery done by Dr. Kralick which was related to the work injury.

Dr. Najafi testified in his opinion all the surgeries were the result of the work injury and were necessary due to Employee’s ongoing pain complaints.  However, his opinion stands alone and is not corroborated by any other medical opinion.  In that regard, his opinion is given less weight and credence than the opinions of Drs. Wong, Golden and McCormack.  Employee has not shown by a preponderance of the evidence the surgeries done by Dr. Najafi are the result of her work injury.  

When was the Employee Medically Stable?

The law presumes an Employee is medically stable if there is no objective measurable improvement from the effects of the injury.  Dr. Kralick, Employee’s first surgeon, released her from treatment on August 2. 2005, when, based on the MRI results, he ruled out further surgery.  He recommended ongoing conservative options for her residual cervical and lumbar symptoms.  Dr. Coalwell, Employee’s primary treating doctor, released her from treatment on July 8, 2005, when her urinalysis showed no evidence of Oxycontin which should have been present, and evidence of cocaine and marijuana which should not have been present.  

Drs. Wong and Golden testified by report and at hearing in their opinion Employee was medically stable from the work injury by July 1, 2005, when Dr. Coalwell stopped treating her.  Dr. McCormack, SIME physician, found Employee medically stable from the work injury on August 2, 2005, when Dr. Kralick ruled out any additional surgery.  Dr. von Kaenel, the pain management physician in Fresno, California, tried facet joint injections and recommended medial branch blocks.  He was unable to perform the medial branch blocks and on February 7, 2007, he stated Employee was at maximum benefit and he would perform no further procedures.  Dr. Najafi in deposition agreed that Employee had not improved and would just need ongoing pain medications for the future, although he did leave the door open for a future cervical surgery. 

Employee contends she is not medically stable and relies on the support of Dr. Najafi for the premise that ongoing pain medication and possibly future surgery may yet change her medical condition.  However, Employee is unable to show by a preponderance of the evidence she is not medically stable from the work injury.  She is unable to present any evidence showing objective measureable improvement in her condition from her current medical treatment.  The preponderance of the evidence demonstrates Employee was medically stable from the work injury by August 2, 2005, when Dr. Kralick released her from care saying she needed only conservative and further surgery was not recommended.  If Employee was not medically then, she was at the very least medically stable by February 7, 2007, when Dr. von Kaenel stated she was at maximum benefit and need no further procedures.  Moreover, on April 13, 2007, she was medically stable according to the EME physicians who gave her a PPI rating.  In addition the SIME physician found her medically stable as of August 2005.  The preponderance of the evidence supports a finding Employee is medically stable from the work injury. 

Employee was paid TTD through April 5, 2007.  Employee is not entitled to any additional TTD.  Based on the preponderance of the evidence Employee was medically by August 2005 and certainly, no later than April 2007.  The statutory presumption of medical stability in the absence of objective measurable improvement from medical treatment bolsters the finding Employee was and is medically stable from the work injury and is not entitled to ongoing TTD. 

Is the Employee entitled to additional permanent partial impairment benefits?

The law requires analysis of the evidence presented to determine if Employee raised the presumption of compensability that she is entitled to additional PPI and, if so, whether Employer rebutted the presumption by substantial evidence.  Employee has raised the presumption of entitlement to additional PPI through the SIME report.  Dr. McCormack opined Employee fit into DRE cervical category IV for a total 25% PPI.  Employer had previously paid a 15% PPI rating. 

Employer successfully rebutted the presumption of compensability for a 25% PPI rating through its EME report stating Employee fit into DRE category III for a 15% PPI rating.  The EME report is substantial evidence that Employee had only a 15% rating.  Employer paid the 15% rating.  

At hearing Employee established by a preponderance of the evidence she is entitled to a 25% PPI rating.  None of Employee’s treating doctors have provided a PPI rating.  The SIME physician gave Employee a 25% rating and Dr. Golden (EME physician) agreed Employee fit into Category IV for a 25% rating.  Therefore, Employee has established by a preponderance of the evidence that she is entitled to the 25% PPI rating.  Therefore, Employee is entitled to an additional 10% in PPI benefits.

Is the Employee entitled to permanent total disability benefits?

Employee has raised the presumption she is permanently and totally disabled through the testimony of her current treating physician Dr. Najafi who said she was “100 percent disabled.”
Employer has provided substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of permanent total disability through the EIME report and testimony of Drs. Wong and Golden.  When they examined Employee in April 2007, they determined Employee could do sedentary work as a result of the work injury.  At hearing Dr. Wong testified Employee had the physical capacities to be a receptionist.  This testimony is substantial evidence to rebut the presumption Employee is permanently and totally disabled.  Employee has the physical capacities to work as a receptionist.  

Employee must prove her claim for PTD benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  She is unable to do this.  Drs. Wong, Golden, and McCormack stated she is capable of working in a sedentary capacity.  Dr. Coalwell on July 12, 2005, stated Employee could participate in reemployment plan development.  Dr. Garnica on October 11, 2005, stated Employee could work as a Dispatcher, Motor Vehicle and then on November 3, 2005, added she could also work as an Answering Service Operator.  Drs. Wong and Golden testified at hearing Employee could perform sedentary work, adding she could work as a receptionist.  Dr. McCormack released Employee to work in a sedentary job with no lifting over 15 pounds, no overheard work, and no repetitive work.

Moreover, Employee is not credible as to her physical capacities.  The Board notes she participated by telephone in a hearing that lasted two days.  She testified she held the phone the entire time and did not use a speaker phone.  Dr. Najafi’s finding Employee to be 100% disabled is given less deference as he is not as credible as the SIME physician and the EME physicians.  

The preponderance of the evidence establishes Employee is not permanently and totally disabled as she is able to perform sedentary work and is in the process of being retrained for sedentary work as a receptionist.  

Is the Employee entitled to attorney’s fees and costs?

Employee seeks attorney’s fees and paralegal costs of $14,145.00 and costs of $1,307.43.
  Attorney Kalamarides billed his time at $300 to $350 per hour which is reasonable for an attorney with his breadth and depth of experience in the field of workers’ compensation benefits.  Employer did not raise any objection to Employee’s Affidavit of Fees and Costs.  Employee prevailed on the major component of her claim, namely additional PPI and some future medical treatment.  Employee is entitled to any additional medical treatment her work injury to the cervical spine at C5-C7 may require.  Therefore, Employee is entitled to 80% of the fees she requested, or $11,316.00 plus costs of $1,307.43.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1. The cervical surgeries by Dr. Najafi in 2005 and 2006 are not related to Employee’s 2004 work injury and are not compensable. 

2. Employee is not permanently and totally disabled as a result of the work injury.

3. Employee is not entitled to any additional TTD since she was paid TTD through April 7, 2007, well after Employee was medically stable from the work injury.

4. Employee is entitled to the 25% PPI rating provided by the SIME physician.

5. The Employee is entitled to attorney’s fees, for the partially successful prosecution of her claim, in the amount of $11,316.00 and costs of $1,307.43. 


ORDER

1. Employer is ordered to pay Employee the 25% PPI rating provided by the SIME physician, less any PPI already paid, with interest.

2 Employee is entitled to medical treatment associated with and necessitated by the work injury at C5-7. 

3. Employer is ordered to pay Employee either PPI benefits biweekly or AS 23.30.041(k) until completion of her reemployment plan as required by the Act.

4. Employee’s claim for PTD benefits is denied.

5. Employee’s claim for ongoing medicals related to her lumbar spine is denied.

6. Employer is order to pay Employee attorney’s fees and paralegal costs in the amount of $11,316.00 and costs of $1,307.43, plus 80% of any supplemental affidavit if one was timely filed.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on January 7, 2010.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

EXTRAORDINARY REVIEW

Within 10 days after the date of service of the Board’s decision and order from which review is sought and before the filing of a timely request for reconsideration of the Board decision and order from which review is sought, a party may file a motion for extraordinary review seeking review of an interlocutory or other non-final Board decision or order with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission under 8 AAC 57.072 and 8 AAC 57.074.
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I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of DOLORES J. BUNDY employee / applicant; v. STATE OF ALASKA, Self-insured Employer/ defendant; ;Case No. 200408624; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on January 7, 2010.






Jean Sullivan, Clerk
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� Magnetic resonance imaging.


� Electromyogram.


� Employee had now moved to Fresno, California (Employee).


� This amount is from the Affidavit of Counsel received by the Board on September 14, 2009.  The Board file does not contain a supplemental affidavit of fees.  If an additional Affidavit of fees was filed and is simply missing from the Board’s file, the ruling above also applies to the supplemental fees.
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